1983

**Ronald D. Jones and Pamela Jones v. American Coin Portfolios, Inc., a California Corpora-Tioni Robert G. Holt, as Trustee, L. H. Investment Company, A Utah Partnership, And L. H. Investment Group, A Utah Corporation : Brief of Appellant**

A. Nature of Proceeding.

This is an action for quiet title and foreclosure of  
certain interests in real property, filed in the Third  
Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County.

B. Disposition Below.

American appeals from a Summary Judgment entered in  
favor of Respondents/Plaintiffs and Counterclaim Defendants,  
Ronald and Pamela Jones (hereinafter collectively referred to  
as "Jones"), granting priority to the interest of Jones in  
the Subject Property over the interest of American. The  
Summary Judgment rules on the respective rights of only two  
parties to this multi-party case. The District Court,  
however, directed the entry of a final judgment, finding that  
there was no just reason for delay. Additionally, American  
appeals from that certain order of the honorable Judge Dee  
dated April 27, 1982, denying American's Motion for Summary  
Judgment and finding that the evidence of indebtedness held  
by American is not secured by American's Trust Deed on the

Subject Property. American also appeals from that certain minute entry of the Honorable Judge Dee dated December 7, 1982, denying American's Motion to Vacate, Amend or Reconsider the Order of April 27, 1982.

C. Relief Sought on Appeal.

In this Appeal, American requests that the Summary Judgment and the April 27, 1982 Order be reversed with directions to enter judgment in favor of American by dismissing the Complaint herein as to American and granting priority to American's Trust Deed security interest over any interest of Jones in the Subject Property, in accordance with the Counterclaim of American. In the alternative, American requests that the Summary Judgment and the April 27, 1982 Order be vacated, and the case be remanded for further proceedings.

II. MATERIAL FACTS

A. The Disputed Security Interests.

1. This action involves the status and priority of a security interest held by American in a 320 acre parcel of undeveloped land located in Salt Lake County (the "Subject Property"). In September 1980, defendant L. H. Investment owned fee simple title to the Subject Property. L. H. Investment entered into a Commodities Purchase Agreement dated September 22, 1980 with American, under which American



advanced \$200,000.00 to L. H. Investment for the purchase of (R. 280-84 "Commodities Purchase Agreement"; R. 201-204 Affidavit of George Drykerman, Vice-President of American"). To secure performance under the Agreement, L. H. Investment executed a Trust Deed Note (R. 271-73) and a Trust Deed on the Subject Property (R. 275-78; hereinafter the "Trust Deed"). The Trust Deed in favor of American dated September 4, 1980, properly recorded on September 24, 1980, recites that it secures "payment of the indebtedness evidenced by a promissory note . . . in the principal sum of \$200,000.00, . . . ." (R. 275).

2. Under the Commodities Purchase Agreement, L. H. Investment was obligated to deliver to American on October 22, 1980 a quantity of gold that \$200,000.00 could purchase at 90.5% of the London afternoon price on that day. On October 20, 1980, L. H. Investment and American entered into an Amendment to the Commodities Purchase Agreement (R. 286-288), whereby L. H. Investment paid American the \$19,000.00 discount premium, representing the difference between the purchase price specified in the original Agreement and the London afternoon price on October 22, 1980, and L. H. Investment agreed to pay the balance of the purchase price (\$200,000.00) by delivering to American on November 22, 1980 the amount of gold which could be purchased

for \$200,000.00 at 90.5% of the London afternoon price on that date. The October 20 Amendment recites in paragraph 6 that the Agreement as amended will continue to be secured by the Trust Deed (R. 287). This same "roll over" of the indebtedness was repeated on November 21, 1980 and December 22, 1980.

3. On December 5, 1980, L. H. Investment executed a warranty deed to the Subject Property to Jones. This deed specifically recites that it is "Subject to a Deed of Trust . . . in favor of American . . . in the principal amount of \$200,000.00 with interest thereon, recorded September 24, 1980, . . . ." (A copy of the warranty deed is attached as Exhibit "D" to Jones' Response to Appellants' Motion for Summary Disposition in this Court, dated March 21, 1983). Jones admitted in the Court below that the Subject Property was conveyed to him subject to the American Trust Deed (R. 19 "Affidavit of Ronald Jones").

4. On January 22, 1981, American and L. H. Investment entered into a Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement (R. 293-301) and a revised Trust Deed Note (R. 290-91). These documents are virtually identical to the original Agreement and Note except that they provide that the "roll over" option is automatic each month if L. H. Investment pays the monthly discount premium, and the Trust

Note was amended to show an amount of \$219,000.00, thus reflecting the \$19,000.00 discount premium payment. These amended documents recite the prior dealings of the parties and the original Commodities Purchase Agreement and Amendment thereto are attached as Exhibit "A" to the January 22, 1981 Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement (R. 303-10). The Revised Agreement and Note each specifically recite that they continue to be secured by the Trust Deed (R. 290 and 296).

5. At no time has L. H. Investment ever repaid to American the \$200,000.00 principal indebtedness, either in cash or commodities (R. 203 "Affidavit of George Drykerman"). Moreover, the Revised Agreement recites in paragraph 1 that "L. H. Investment shall continue to apply the \$200,000.00 advanced by American . . . ." (R. 294; emphasis added). There has never been any evidence produced, in the form of an affidavit or otherwise, purporting to show that American has ever received payment of the \$200,000.00 principal indebtedness.

6. There is no evidence in the record showing that after Jones took his warranty deed subject to the American Trust Deed, that Jones ever changed his position or in any way relied on the Revised Agreement and Note as a payment of the debt owed American or an extinguishment of the Trust Deed. In fact, on February 16, 1981, subsequent to the

execution of the Revised Agreement and Note, Jones executed a trust deed to the Subject Property in favor of a third party (R. 398-400), and the legal description therein specifically recites that this conveyance by Jones is expressly subject to American's Trust Deed (R. 400). This subsequent Jones trust deed was forwarded for recording by their attorney by a letter dated February 10, 1981 (R. 397).

7. The warranty deed from L. H. Investment to Jones, while absolute on its face, was a deed given as security only. The deed secured the payment to Jones of approximately \$60,000.00 from L. H. Investment in connection with a sale of diamonds by Jones. This security interest only is admitted in correspondence from Ronald Jones (R. 352-53), and his attorney, James Harward (R. 395), and is the subject of a separate lawsuit by L. H. Investment against Jones in Third District Court, Civil No. C81-1858. In fact, Jones executed a warranty deed back to L. H. Investment on December 29, 1980 to be placed in escrow, which deed again expressly recites the continuation of the American Trust Deed (R. 396). As late as May 5, 1981, after American had recorded its Notice of Default, Jones' attorney delivered written instructions directing the recording of the escrowed warranty deed from Jones to L. H. Investment upon L. H. Investment's performance of the underlying agreement for which Jones originally received a deed as security (R. 400).

9. In March, 1961, L. H. Investment defaulted on account of the indebtedness to American, and American proceeded with steps to foreclose the Trust Deed (R. 9-13 "Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's Sale").

1. Proceedings in the Court Below.

9. Prior to American's trustee sale, Jones commenced this action against American, Robert Holt as American's trustee, and L. H. Investment to enjoin the trustee's sale (R. 2-4). Jones subsequently amended the complaint to quiet title to the Subject Property in Jones (R. 184-94). American counterclaimed and cross-claimed for judicial foreclosure of its Trust Deed and a declaration of priority of American's interest over all claimants (R. 118-127).

10. American added as parties to this action the individual guarantors of its Note (Eastman, Calder and Boshard, who are also the principals of L. H. Investment) and Carl and Mary Barnes, who claim an interest in the Subject Property. L. H. Investment, Lee Eastman and Richard Calder have appeared in the action, admitted the allegations of the counterclaim and cross-claim of American and stipulated to the entry of judgment against them in accordance therewith (R. 197-98). Donald Boshard has answered the cross-claim of

American, denying personal liability but admitting most of the substantive allegations of American (R. 179-80).

11. On March 25, 1982, American moved for summary judgment on its counterclaim and cross-claim based on the pleadings, the admissions of L. H. Investment and the affidavit of George Drykerman, Vice-President of American (R. 199-200). Jones submitted a memorandum in opposition to the motion, admitting that the warranty deed given to Jones was expressly subject to the Trust Deed of American (R. 210).

12. The Jones memorandum, however, assumed, without factual support, that all obligations under the original Commodities Purchase Agreement and Note had been performed and therefore the underlying debt to American was extinguished, and argued that the future advances "dragnet" clause of the Trust Deed would not secure the "new" debt created in January 1981 by the Revised Agreement and Note (R. 212-13). The assumption that the execution of the January 1981 Revised Agreement and Note constituted performance by L. H. Investment and extinguished the underlying indebtedness to American was clearly controverted in paragraph 9 of the Affidavit of George Drykerman (R. 203) and in the Revised Agreement itself, which also specifically states that it remains secured by the Trust Deed (R. 293-301). The underlying principal indebtedness of \$200,000.00, to which

Trust Deed is expressly subject, has never been paid to American. Therefore, there was no future advance in January 1981, and American does not rely on the "dragnet" clause contained in the Trust Deed.

13. The Court took American's Motion for Summary Judgment under advisement (R. 207) and subsequently entered the Order of April 27, 1982, which order finds that the January 22, 1981 Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement and Trust Deed Note "are not secured by the subject property." (R. 321-22) The form of this order was not served upon opposing counsel as required by Rule 2.9(b) of the District Court Rules of Practice, and American's counsel first saw the order in connection with Jones Motion for Summary Judgment dated June 21, 1982 (R. 484 "Statement by Jones Counsel"; R. 348-49 "Affidavit of Robyn Heilbrun"). American moved to Vacate, Amend or Reconsider the Order of April 27, 1982, and a hearing on this motion was held on August 6, 1982.

14. At the August 6 hearing, the Court apparently realized that its prior April 27, 1982 Order was incorrect (R. 499-500), and the Court stated that it would "rework it" (R. 500). However, the Court failed to make a ruling or prepare an order. Both parties wrote to the Court in September and October 1982 requesting a ruling on the motion. When no ruling was forthcoming, counsel for

American, after receiving permission from counsel for American, orally requested a ruling from the Court. The Court then denied the Motion to Vacate, Amend or Reconsider by a minute entry dated December 7, 1982, giving no reason therefor (R. 409).

15. There was not only no factual or legal basis for the court to grant priority to the security interest of Jones over American's interest in the Subject Property, but Jones had not even moved for summary judgment at the time of the April 27, 1982 Order. Moreover, the effect of the wording of such order, was not only to grant priority to Jones over American, but also to completely divest American of any security interest whatsoever in the Subject Property.

16. After the Court denied American's Motion to Vacate the April 27, 1982 Order, American stipulated to the entry of Summary Judgment against it, while continuing to object to the April 27, 1982 Order and reserving its right to appeal to this Court (R. 420-22; ¶ 3). Summary Judgment was entered pursuant to such stipulation, entering a final order and reciting that American does not waive any right to appeal (R. 423-26).



### III. QUESTIONS PRESENTED

A. Does the holder of a note secured by a Trust Deed on real property retain his security interest when the note is renewed with only minor amendments thereto, where the amended note incorporates the Trust Deed, the principal indebtedness evidenced by the note is never paid, and an interest in the real property of an intervening third party is expressly made subject to the Trust Deed?

B. Is a debt that is evidenced by a note and an agreement, and secured by a Trust Deed on real property, extinguished when the note and agreement are amended in part, where the principal indebtedness evidenced by the note and agreement is never paid?

C. If the holder of a note secured by a Trust Deed on real property accepts a new note as payment for the secured note, is the holder subrogated to the rights in the Trust Deed as security for the new note, where the position of an intervening purchaser or lienor of the real property is not made worse after the new note is accepted than it was prior to such acceptance?

D. Where the interest of a grantee in a deed of real property is made subject to a prior Trust Deed with the grantee's knowledge, will the interest of the grantee be equitably subordinated to the interest secured by such Trust

Deed, where there is some defect in the continued perfection of the Trust Deed security interest, but the indebtedness secured by the Trust Deed is never paid and the grantee is in no worse position after the equitable subordination than he originally bargained for?

E. Did the District Court commit reversible error when deciding on defendant's motion for summary judgment, by ruling that defendant had no security interest in the Subject Property, where all parties admitted the validity of the original Trust Deed, Note and Agreement in favor of defendant, plaintiff admitted that its intervening warranty deed was expressly made subject to defendant's original Trust Deed, the trustor of the Trust Deed admitted that the Revised Note and Agreement were secured by the original Trust Deed, which Revised Note and Agreement on their face state that they are secured by the original Trust Deed, and the defendant supplied a sworn affidavit that the underlying indebtedness had never been paid?

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court below apparently accepted the assumptions and arguments set forth in the Jones Memorandum in Opposition to American's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 208-220). The Memorandum assumed that L. H. Investment "fully performed" under the original Commodities Purchase Agreement and Trust Deed Note and thereby extinguished the underlying debt, without supplying any affidavit or other testimony to that effect. The Memorandum then argued that since the prior debt was extinguished, the January 22, 1981 Revised Agreement and Note constituted a "future advance" and was not covered by the Trust Deed's "dragnet clause". Therefore, Jones argued that even though his Deed was expressly subject to the Trust Deed, the Trust Deed did not secure the "new" indebtedness to American.

The initial assumption that a new debt was created in January 1981 was directly contradicted by the only evidence before the Court, and therefore the Summary Judgment finding that the Revised Agreement and Note are not secured by the Trust Deed was manifest error.

A. Neither the Indebtedness Owed to American Nor Its Security Interest Was Extinguished by the January 22, 1981 Revised Note and Agreement.

When a note is given in renewal of another note, it does not raise the presumption of extinguishment of the

debt. Marking Systems, Inc. v. Interwest Film Corp., 507 P.2d 176, 178 (Utah 1977); see Utah Code Annotated § 70A-3-802.

First Security Bank of Utah v. Proudfit Sporting Goods Co., 552 P.2d 123 (Utah 1976), sets forth the controlling law on the present facts. In November 1970, Proudfit executed a renewal note in the amount of \$63,000 and a trust deed securing the note, which trust deed recited that it was to secure the note "and any extensions and/or renewals or modifications thereof." Id. at 123-24. Remington obtained and recorded a judgment lien against the property in December 1971. In June 1972, Proudfit executed a renewal of the note in the amount of \$68,180.00, secured by the prior trust deed. This Court found "little merit" in Remington's argument that when Proudfit executed the 1972 note, the 1970 trust deed note for a lesser amount was paid and a new separate contract came into being. Id. at 124. The court quoted the law as follows:

Nor does the giving of a new note in renewal of another note extinguish the debt for which the original note was given unless it clearly appears that it was the intention of the parties that the execution of the new note and the cancellation of the old note should extinguish the debt represented by the old note.

1914 (quoting from Interstate Trust v. Headlund, 51  
Utah 243, 171 P. 315 (1918)); accord, Gray v. Kappos 90 Utah  
309, 61 P.2d 313, 315 (1936).

In the present case, the facts before the Court are virtually identical to those in Proudfit. L. H. Investment executed and recorded a Trust Deed for the benefit of American, which recites that it secures "payment of the indebtedness evidenced by a promissory note . . . in the principal sum of \$200,000.00 . . . with interest . . . and any extensions and/or renewals or modifications thereof . . . " (R. 275). In Proudfit the second renewal note was for an increased debt amount. In the present case the January 22, 1981 Revised Agreement and Note, merely included the normal \$19,000 discount premium as part of the renewal Note, and each document recites that "L. H. Investment shall continue to apply the \$200,000.00 advanced by American" and that each continues to be secured by the Trust Deed (R. 290 and 293-96). American provided an affidavit that the indebtedness had never been paid, and L. H. Investment, the grantor for both parties herein, stipulated to the entry of judgment in favor of American (R. 197-98).

Finally, the Court held in Proudfit that the taking of a renewal note does not extinguish the debt unless such "clearly" appears as the intent of the parties. Id. at 124.

The intent of the parties to the prior trust deed was controlling in Proudfit even though the intervening lienholder was in no way a party or privy to the transactions between First Security and Proudfit. In the instant case, not only are the Revised Agreement and Note unambiguous that no extinguishment was intended, but the grantor for both American and Jones has stipulated to a judgment in favor of American on the validity of the security interest, and is suing Jones in a separate action to declare the Jones warranty deed void.

The only fact distinguishing Proudfit is that in Proudfit the intervening lienholder did not take his lien expressly subject to First Security's trust deed and yet the court ruled that First Security's renewal note remained secured by the prior trust deed. In the present case, Jones took his interest subject to American's Trust Deed and thus it is even more clear than American's trust deed retains priority.

The rule in Proudfit and Gray v. Kappos, supra, is supported by numerous cases from other jurisdictions. Easton v. Ash, 116 P.2d 433, 437 (Cal. 1941) ("The renewal agreement was sufficient not only to revive the indebtedness but to renew the original mortgage as well."); Waynesboro Nat. Bank v. Smith, 145 S.E. 302, 305-06 (Va. 1928).

In William V. Hurd Lumber & Woodwork Co., 230 N.W. 2d (Mich. 1930), the court was confronted with facts almost identical to those here. The plaintiff purchased property and took a deed subject to a mortgage. The mortgage note was surrendered to the mortgagor in exchange for new notes. The court rejected plaintiff's claim that the substituted renewal notes discharged the mortgage. "No change in the form of the evidence, or the mode or time of payment--nothing short of actual payment of the debt, or an express release--will operate to discharge the mortgage." Id. at 921 (emphasis added); accord, Smith v. Thomas, 245 P. 399, 401 (Idaho 1926).

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