1983

**Ronald D. Jones and Pamela Jones v. American Coin Portfolios, Inc., a California Corpora-Tioni Robert G. Holt, as Trustee, L. H. Investment Company, A Utah Partnership, And L. H. Investment Group, A Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent**

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I.

L. H. INVESTMENT STRICTLY PERFORMED ITS  
COVENANTS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE  
ORIGINAL COMMODITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND



TRUST DEED NOTE THEREBY TERMINATING  
APPELLANTS' RIGHTS IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

Under Utah law, satisfaction or performance of an agreement or obligation secured by collateral terminates, as a matter of law, the lien on the collateral. In Aird Insurance Agency v. Zions First National Bank, 612 P.2d 341 (Utah, 1980), the Court held:

A pledge of security affords rights in the pledgee only to the extent that the secured obligation may become in default. Moreover, the nature of the obligation secured is a function of the agreement between the parties . . . Satisfaction of an obligation secured by a pledge terminates, as a matter of law, the pledgee's rights in the collateral. Such termination is inherent in the definition of a security interest . . . .

Consistent with the applicable law, under the express terms of the Trust Deed Note executed in September 1980, strict performance by L H Investment of its covenants and obligations under the original Commodities Purchase Agreement, a copy of which was attached to the Note, constituted payment in full of the note and release of the Trust Deed lien. The note specifically recites it was given as collateral security to assure performance under the Commodities Purchase Agreement and provides:

And this Note shall be deemed paid in full upon strict performance by the undersigned of their covenants and obligations under the terms of the attached Commodity Purchase Agreement and this Note shall thereupon be returned to the undersigned and the Trust Deed secured hereby reconveyed and the lien thereof released of record.

Accordingly, the first issue raised is whether L. H. Investment performed its obligations under the September, 1980 Commodities Purchase Agreement and Trust Deed Note.

The original Commodities Purchase Agreement was in effect from September 1980 to December 22, 1980. The new Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement became effective December 22, 1980. American Coin, by the recitals in the new Agreement, acknowledged L. H. Investment held ready for delivery the required amount of gold on each delivery date through December 22, 1980. In fact, American Coin has never claimed a breach or default of the original Commodities Purchase Agreement or Trust Deed Note and there is no dispute that L. H. Investment strictly performed its obligations under the first Agreement and Amendment thereto through December 22, 1980. American Coin's argument is that the new Agreement was merely an extension or modification of the first Agreement.

- A. Whether the Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement dated January 22, 1981, was a new agreement or merely an extension or modification of the first agreement was properly determined by the trial court based on the written contracts and no material issues of fact exist.

Appellants argument to this Court that questions of fact exist as to the intent of the parties to the contracts is without merit for two reasons: First, American Coin expressly represented to the trial court that both parties

relied upon the terms of the written contracts to establish the facts and specifically requested the court to rule on the issue based on its interpretation of the written contracts.

Its counsel urged the court as follows:

Ms. Heilbrun: The issue before the Court in this matter is a simple single issue of law regarding the validity and priority of a recorded Trust Deed owned and held by my clients, American Coin Portfolios, Inc. and Oakwood Manor . . . . The Jones, as do we, appear to rely on the terms of the writings between the parties to establish the operative facts. At least in that we agree. Our interpretation differs obviously. That's why we are here today. This Court can determine which interpretation is correct from the express contracts and summary judgment can be granted. (R. 504, 506).

Having so urged the trial court, appellants are estopped from now claiming the trial court erred because questions of fact exist. It is well-settled that:

The rule that a party will not be allowed to maintain inconsistent position is applied in respect to positions in judicial actions and proceedings. As thus applied, it may be regarded not strictly as a question of estoppel, but as a matter in the nature of a positive rule of procedure based on manifest justice and, to a greater or lesser degree, on considerations of orderliness, regularity, and expedition in litigation. . . . The rule against inconsistent position applies generally to positions assumed not only in the course of the same action or proceeding, but also in proceedings supplemental thereto, including proceedings for review or retrial. . . ." 28 Am. Jur. 2d, Estoppel and Waiver, § 69 at 696-697.

Second, while the intention of the parties may be a question of fact to be determined from all the circumstances

in a dispute between the parties to an agreement, when the dispute is between a party to the agreement and a third party (not a party to the agreement), the intent must be determined solely from the express language of the document itself. James Weller, Inc. v. Hansen, 517 P.2d 410 (Ariz. App. 1973); Stearns v. Williams, 240 P.2d 833 (Ida. 1982); Lepel v. Lepel, 456 P.2d 249 (Ida. 1969).

In James Weller, Inc. vs. Hansen, supra, Hansen and Cherokee Construction Company (like American Coin and L. H. Investment) were involved in several transactions pertaining to the property involved. Weller performed work on the property and filed notice of a mechanic's lien, naming Cherokee as the owner. In the litigation, Hansen sought to quiet title to the property and Weller sought to foreclose its mechanic's lien. Hansen claimed he did not receive the required notice of the mechanic's lien. Weller argued that based on the contracts between Hansen and Cherokee, they were joint venturers and therefore the notice to Cherokee was sufficient. Hansen argued there was a factual issue and the relationship between him and Cherokee had to be based on their intent and determined from all the relevant circumstances. The Court held:

While the intent of the contracting parties is essential as between the parties, where there is a

clear and unambiguous contract, as here, the contract controls as to Weller, a third party.

\* \* \*

. . . The intent of the contracting parties to form a partnership is always an essential element of a partnership as between the partners themselves, but as to third parties, the relation will be determined from the facts rather than the conclusions of the co-partners as to the nature of the business relationship. Id. at 1114-1115.

Jones was not privy to the contracts between American Coin and L. H. Investment. Therefore, whether the second contract was a new agreement or merely a modification of the first agreement must be determined from the express language of the contracts, as urged by American Coin in the trial court, and not from the conclusions of the parties to the contracts, as now argued by American Coin.

B. The Trial Court's Interpretation of the Written Contracts was correct.

American Coin's contention that the new Agreement was merely an extension or modification of the old Agreement is untenable, particularly when the express terms of the new Agreement are compared with the terms of the October 22, 1980 Amendment to the original Agreement. When the original Agreement was extended and amended in October 1982, the Amendment provided:

It is expressly agreed by the parties that this contract is supplemental to the previous agreement of the parties, which is by this reference made a

part hereof and the terms, conditions and provisions thereof, unless specifically modified herein, are to apply to this contract and are made a part of this contract as though fully set forth herein.

In contrast, when the new Agreement was made in January, 1981, after strict performance of the old Agreement, it provided:

This agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings pertaining thereto. No covenant, representation or condition not expressed in this Agreement shall affect or be deemed to interpret, change, or restrict the express provisions hereof. (R. 19, paragraph 19).

In each case the contract language is clear and unambiguous. In October 1980 when the Commodities Purchase Agreement was to be merely modified, it was done by amendment, which expressly provided it was supplemental to the original agreement, and incorporated all provisions of the original agreement not expressly modified.

Also noteworthy is the fact that no new note was executed to secure the Amendment. In contrast, a completely new and separate contract was prepared and signed by the parties in January 1981. The new contract recites full performance of the original agreement and expressly provides it supersedes all prior agreements. Additionally, a new note securing the new contract was prepared and signed. The new note is for a

different principal amount and does not by its terms purport to be a renewal or extension of the old note.

American Coin's reliance on First Security Bank of Utah v. Proudfit Sporting Goods Co., 522 P.2d 123 (Utah 1976), is misplaced. In Proudfit this Court held that the holder of a security interest did not lose its priority as to an intervening judgment creditor where the debtor obtained an extension or renewal of a note to the holder of the security interest. The original obligation in that case was never satisfied but was extended. The Proudfit case would be applicable to this case if L. H. Investment had not performed under the original contract and had obtained an extension of time in which to perform. The undisputed facts in this case, however, are that L. H. Investment did perform under the original contract. The new contract was not an extension of time for L. H. Investment's performance, but, in fact, recites full performance by L. H. Investment under the first contract and expressly provides it supersedes all prior agreements.

In summary, under applicable Utah law and by the express provisions of the September 1980 Trust Deed Note, the Note was deemed paid in full, and the trust deed lien terminated when L. H. Investment performed its obligations under the September 1980 Commodities Purchase Agreement and the

Amendment thereto. The clear and unambiguous language of the written contract supports the trial court's finding that the Revised Commodities Purchase Agreement was a new contract and not a mere extension of the earlier agreement. L. H. Investment did not have title to the subject property in January 1981, when the new Agreement was made and therefore could not give American Coin a security interest in the property as it purported to do.

#### POINT II.

THE REVISED COMMODITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT  
AND TRUST DEED NOTE, DATED JANUARY 22,  
1981, ARE NOT SECURED BY THE SUBJECT  
PROPERTY UNDER THE SEPTEMBER, 1980, TRUST  
DEED.

Since the obligations under the original Commodities Purchase Agreement were fully performed and the original Trust Deed Note thereby fully paid and American Coin's only claim of default is under the new Agreement and new Note, its claim to a security interest in the property under the September 1980 Trust Deed is necessarily based on the future advance provision of the Trust Deed, commonly known as a "dragnet clause". The dragnet clause provided that in addition to the \$200,000 promissory note, the Trust Deed secured "the payment of such additional loans or advances as hereafter may be made to Trustor, or its successors or



assigns, when evidenced by a Promissory Note or notes reciting that they are secured by this trust deed."

Dragnet clauses such as this are not favored in equity and are to be carefully scrutinized and strictly and narrowly construed. First Security Bank of Utah v. Shiew, 609 P.2d 952 (Utah 1980); Osborn, Nelson & Whitman, Real Estate Finance Law, Section 12.8 (1979). In this case, the dragnet provision does not extend the trust deed to the new Commodities Purchase Agreement or new Trust Deed Note, dated January 22, 1981, for three reasons:

- A. Once the Original Note Was Fully Paid and Discharged, the Trust Deed Lien Was Extinguished and Could Not Thereafter Secure Future Loans.

One rule quoted with approval by this Court in First Security Bank of Utah v. Shiew, *supra*, and applied by courts in construing and limiting the application of dragnet clauses, is stated by Osborn, Nelson & Whitman as follows:

Once the original debt has been fully discharged, the mortgage is extinguished and cannot secure future loan. Id. at 774.

As discussed under Point I, there is no dispute that L. H. Investment fully performed each and every obligations under the original Commodities Purchase Agreement. The original Trust Deed Note, by its express terms, was deemed paid in full upon L. H. Investments' performance of its covenants and obligations under the original Commodities

Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, the lien created by the September 1980 Trust Deed was extinguished. The new Agreement made in January, 1981, which by its terms superseded all prior agreements and understandings between L. H. Investment and American Coin, and the new Note signed at that time, could not be secured by a lien which had been extinguished.

B. The Obligations Under the January 22, 1981, Agreement and Note, which Appellants Claim Were Breached, Were Incurred After the Property Was Conveyed to Jones.

According to Osborne, Nelson & Whitman, supra, another rule applied by courts in construing dragnet clauses is: "If the real estate is transferred by the mortgagor to a third party, any debts which the original mortgagor incurs thereafter are not secured by the mortgage." Id. at 775. This rule was also quoted with approval by this Court in First Security Bank of Utah v. Shiew, supra, and was adopted by the drafters of the Uniform Land Transfer Act. ULTA § 3-205(d).

The same rule was applied by the Texas courts in Vaughan v. Crown Plumbing and Sewer Service, Inc., 523 S.W.2d 72 (Tx. Ct. App. 1975), a case with facts strikingly similar to the present case. On May 13, 1974, Crown Plumbing purchased an apartment complex from Gayne. The sale was subject to

several existing liens on the property, but the obligations secured by said liens were not assumed by Crown. One of the liens was created by a trust deed dated February 1, 1972, in favor of Vaughan, which contained a clause purporting to cover future advances. On July 29, 1974 (after the sale to Crown) Gayne signed another promissory note to Vaughan. Gayne defaulted on this obligation and Vaughan proceeded with the requisite notices to conduct a trustee's sale, claiming the July 29, 1974 note was secured by the February 1, 1972 trust deed. Crown brought suit and obtained a TRO and preliminary injunction enjoining the trustee's sale. The appellate court affirmed, holding that the February 1972 trust deed did not secure the obligation of Gayne to Vaughan because it arose after Gayne transferred the property to Crown.

In the present case, the only obligations which American Coin claims were breached arose after L. H. Investment conveyed the subject property to Jones. Accordingly, these obligations are not secured by the September 1980 Trust Deed.

- C. The Dagnet Clause in the September 1980 Trust Deed Does Not Extend the Trust Deed Lien to the Obligations Under the January 22, 1981 Agreement and Note Because The Obligations Under the New Agreement Were Voluntary and Not Obligatory.

The general rule regarding priority between an original lien holder who makes a future advance to the mortgagor and a

third party who acquires an interest in the mortgaged property after creation of the initial lien, but before the future obligation is incurred by the mortgagor is that if the future advance is voluntary rather than obligatory and the mortgagee has notice of the intervening third-party's interest, the interest of the third party takes priority. Osborne, Nelson & Whitman, §12.7, supra.

This rule was applied by the trial court and affirmed by this Court in Western Mortgage Loan Corporation v. Cottonwood Construction Co., 424 P.2d 437 (Utah 1967). The following analysis of this rule was suggested by the Court in First Security Bank of Utah v. Shiew, supra:

. . . In a case where there is no obligation to make future advances, a mortgage, which purports to secure future advances, cannot do so until such advance has been made. Until such time, the provision merely represents an expression of the intention of the mortgagor and mortgagee that the mortgage shall operate as a security for the obligations of the mortgagor with respect to such advances, if and when such obligation arises. Thus, these provisions, at most, represent an offer by the mortgagor to provide the security of the mortgage for such advances if and when they are made. . . .

Id. at 956.

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